ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

AUG 03 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appeal Case No. 2013-002508

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAVISH DOMINIQUE YEARGIN,

APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6307

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601-2185

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 18-20, 2013, Appellant Tavish Dominique Yeargin (“Appellant”) was tried by a jury for the murder of Sean Timothy Dinneen and one count of grand larceny. (Indictments, R. pp. 340-41). Appellant was tried in the Pickens County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge. John Dejong, Public Defender for Pickens County, represented Appellant. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Doug Richardson and Brandi Hinton, both of the Solicitor’s Office for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit.

On November 20, 2013, Appellant was convicted of murder and grand larceny. (R. p. 332). He was sentenced to sixty years confinement for the murder conviction and five years confinement for the grand larceny conviction, both to be served concurrently. (R. p. 335).

Before this Court is Appellant’s direct appeal of his convictions. Appellant requests this Court reverse his convictions and order a new trial. The State respectfully requests this Court deny Appellant’s appeal and affirm his convictions.

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 17, 2011, Appellant shot and killed Sean Dinneen in the parking lot of Crosswell Baptist Church in Easley, SC. Dinneen was shot once. The shot entered in his right upper chest, right at the clavicle. (R. p. 296). The shot fractured the mid-point of the clavicle, crossed diagonally downwards towards the back, injured the left lung, pierced the diaphragm, and ended up right in front of one of the large vessels. (R. p. 297). Dinneen died as a result of blood loss resulting from the wound to the right side of the lung. (R. pp. 297-99).

Appellant plans to steal a car from the victim

Appellant and his two co-defendants, Kayla Williams and Nyia Utsey,¹ initially planned to steal one of two cars the victim had for sale. The victim had a teal Pontiac Grand Prix and a blue Mitsubishi Lancer for sale, and he was asking \$7000 for each car. (R pp. 2-3).

Kayla testified that she initially received a call from Appellant on September 16, 2011. Nyia also indicated that she received a call from Appellant asking if he could get a ride from Kayla. (R. p. 203). Appellant had informed Kayla and Nyia that he had some cars in Easley that he wanted to pick up. (R. pp. 139-41, 204-05). Appellant indicated that he needed a ride to get the cars from Easley. (R. pp. 204-05). Kayla, who at the time drove a Ford Mustang, agreed to assist as long as Appellant provided her with gas money. (R. pp. 140, 142, 204-05). The three initially met on Friday, September 16, after Kayla and

¹ Nyia Utsey is one of Appellant's sisters. Kayla Williams was Nyia's girlfriend at the time. (R. pp. 136, 201-02).

Nyia dropped off Nyia's son at Nyia's mother's house.² (R. pp. 141, 205-06). During the drive to the victim's house, Appellant indicated to Kayla and Nyia that he planned on robbing the victim. (R. p. 144). Kayla noted that Appellant stated he wanted to tie the victim up with zip ties and knock him out. (R. p. 144). Nyia stated that Appellant had told them that the plan would be for Kayla and Nyia would get the victim to come to his front door, and while they were talking with the victim Appellant would enter from the back door, get the car keys, and tie the victim up. (R. pp. 206-07). Nyia indicated that before they left the house that Friday, she saw Appellant get a long barreled gun from their brother Michael, and she further noted she saw them load the gun. (R. pp. 207-08). Appellant placed the gun in the trunk of Kayla's Mustang. (R. p. 208).

On that Friday, when the three went to the victim's home, no one was there. (R. pp. 145, 209-11).

The Three Regroup for a Second Attempt on Saturday

The next morning, Appellant called Kayla and Nyia again, asking if they would take him back to the victim's house.³ (R. pp. 147, 211-12). After Appellant agreed to provide Kayla with gas money, they agreed to again help Appellant. (R. pp. 147, 212). The two picked up Appellant after they dropped Nyia's son off at Nyia's mother's house. (R. p. 148, see R. p. 213). Kayla testified that while at the mother's house, Appellant obtained a long barreled gun from his brother Michael. (R. p. 149). Nyia testified that they picked Appellant up from her

² Nyia indicated that they dropped off her son at her sister Tequala's house, and they then picked Appellant up from her mother's house. (R. p. 206).

³ Nyia believed the conversation may have been on the evening of September 17th. (R. p. 211-12).

sister's house, but they went to her mother's house so Appellant could pick up the gun. (R. pp. 213, 246). Appellant put the gun in the trunk of Kayla's Mustang. (R. pp. 150, 214, 246). The three then went to Taylors and picked up Appellant's brother Charles. (R. pp. 152, 215-16).

The group started with a plan to convince the victim that they wanted to purchase both cars the victim had for sale. (R. pp. 153-54, 215, 216). Appellant made the initial contact with the victim by telephone. (R. p. 215, see R. p. 250). When the group arrived at the victim's house, Kayla, Nyia and Charles walked up to the victim's house to meet with him.⁴ (R. pp. 157, 219).

Margaret Hinson, the victim's neighbor, testified that on September 17, the victim received calls from a male wanting to look at the two cars he had for sale. (R. p. 4). She noted that at least one of the calls was to her house phone. (R. pp. 3-4). Later that evening, as it was just getting dark, she noted three people came to see the car. (R. pp. 4-6). Hinson indicated there were two females who were looking at the cars, and a male was midway down the hill in the driveway from the victim's house. (R. pp. 5-6).

The three looked at both the Grand Prix and a Mitsubishi Lancer the victim had for sale. (R. pp. 157, 219-20). At some point during the initial meeting with the victim, Charles expressed reluctance about continuing with the group's plan. (R. pp. 157-58, 219-20). Kayla and Nyia informed the victim that they needed to go to a local gas station to use the restroom, and that they would return. (R. pp.

⁴ Appellant remained in Kayla's Mustang; he did not want the victim to recognize him because he had previously lived with the victim. (R. pp. 154-55, see R. p. 215).

158, 221). Hinson noted that when the group left, the victim brought the Grand Prix down from his house and parked it in front of her house. (R. pp. 7-8). She also stated that the victim was heavily intoxicated, and that he was drinking. (R. pp. 8-9).

The group left the victim's house, went to a gas station, and left Charles at the station. (R. pp. 159, 222). Appellant, Kayla, and Nyia then returned to the victim's residence; Kayla and Nyia went back to the house to look at the two cars. (R. pp. 160-61, 223). Nyia noted that she saw the gun in the backseat of the Mustang at this point. (R. p. 223). They were unable to start the Lancer and keep it running.⁵ (R. p. 161).

Hinson testified that when the group came back, they pulled into the victim's driveway. (R. p. 8). The victim had indicated to her that they planned on taking the Grand Prix for a test drive. (R. pp. 8, 9). Kayla and Nyia then requested to test drive the Grand Prix. (R. pp. 162, 224). During the test drive, Kayla drove the Grand Prix, and Nyia sat in the front passenger seat. (R. pp. 163, 192, 225, 252). The victim sat in the back seat of the Grand Prix. (R. pp. 163, 192, 225, 252). Both Kayla and Nyia testified that he was heavily intoxicated, and he was drinking during the test drive. (R. pp. 163-64, 225, 252). Appellant remained in Kayla's Mustang, and he followed the Grand Prix during the test drive. (R. pp. 164, 225).

⁵ Both Nyia and Hinson indicated the attempt at operating the Lancer occurred during their first contact with the victim. (R. pp. 6, 219-20).

The Two Cars Stop in a Church Parking Lot

Kayla testified that during the test drive, she followed signals from Appellant as directions of where he wanted her to take the car. (R. pp. 164-65, 191-92).⁶ Eventually, Kayla pulled into the parking lot of Crosswell Baptist Church because she was tired of driving. (R. pp. 165, 226). She pulled into the parking lot, and Appellant pulled in behind her. (R. p. 226). Once they were stopped, Nyia got out of the Grand Prix and went back to the Mustang to talk with Appellant about their next move. (R. pp. 165-66, 193, 226, 254). After talking with Appellant, Nyia went back to the Grand Prix to talk with Kayla. (R. pp. 166, 226-27). Kayla then went back to the Mustang to talk with Appellant. (R. pp. 166, 193, 227-28, 254). While the two were talking, they noticed the victim had gotten out of the car and was starting to walk towards the driver's side of the car.⁷ (R. pp. 166-67, 227-28; see R. p. 195). Kayla ran back to the Grand Prix and jumped in the driver's seat before the victim could get into the seat. (R. pp. 167, 193, 227-28, 254-55). Kayla then tried to start the car. (R. pp. 167, 228). The victim got on top of Kayla and attempted to jerk the keys out of Kayla's hand. (R. p. 167). During cross-examination, Kayla indicated that the victim was grabbing at her, and at some point, she showed where she was bruised to law enforcement. (R. p. 194).

⁶ Nyia testified that this was done according to the instructions by Appellant. (R. pp. 223, 253).

⁷ Kayla noted that the victim did have a beer bottle in his hand when he was walking towards the driver's side of the car. (R. p. 195). Kayla did not know when the beer bottle was broken in the parking lot. (R. p. 195). She also did not know if it was thrown or dropped. (R. p. 195).

Kayla testified that he also attempted to put the car in park while she was attempting to put the car in drive. (R. pp. 167-68, 195). Nyia also confirmed the victim Kayla and the victim were engaged in a struggle over the car. (R. p. 228). Nyia observed the victim throw the beer bottle behind him, and further saw him lose a shoe after Kayla got the car to go a little bit. (R. p. 228).

Kayla noted, “[the victim]’s not hitting me, he’s just trying to get me out of the car, trying to pull me out.” (R. p. 168, ll 6-7). She also noted that the victim was not saying anything. (R. p. 168). Nyia testified the victim was laying on top of Kayla. (R. p. 229). His hands were on the driver’s seat and, at some point in time, on the ignition switch. (R. p. 229). She also stated that she did not see him hit her, but he “[m]ight be pushing her a little bit.” (R. p. 229, ll 21-22).

The Shooting

Kayla described what happened next as follows:

It happened so fast. Tav [Appellant] pulled up beside the car, the Grand Prix that we were in. And the window was rolled down on the passenger side of the Grand Prix. And my window won’t roll down in my Mustang on the driver’s side. So, he opens his door, sticks the gun out and tells him to get up off me or he’s going to shoot him.

And Dinneon says, Shoot me, I don’t care.

And he shoots him on top of me.

(R. p. 169, ll 1-8). Nyia recalled, “[s]o the Defendant, he drives around and he told Sean he said, Get off her. And Sean looked up at him and said, Kill me. And he had the gun pointed at the window. And he shot him.” (R. p. 230, ll 3-8). Nyia also indicated Appellant had pulled up to the passenger side of the Grand Prix, opened the Mustang door, and fired the gun towards the victim. (R. pp.

230, 258-60). Nyia acknowledged the victim was not using any weapons, and he was not threatening Kayla in any way. (R. p. 231).

Kayla indicated that immediately prior to the shooting, the victim had half of his body in the Grand Prix and had his legs dangling out of the Grand Prix. (R. p. 169). Kayla testified that she saw Appellant shoot the victim. (R. p. 169). After he was shot, the victim went limp. (R. p. 169). Nyia also admitted she saw Appellant shoot the victim. (R. p. 230).

During cross-examination, Kayla testified that she could not tell what Appellant may have seen during the confrontation between her and the victim. (R. p. 198). She also did not know what Appellant could see when he shot the victim. (R. p. 197). Kayla surmised Appellant was just trying to get the victim off of her. (R. pp. 197).

Kayla testified that after Appellant shot the victim, she panicked. (R. p. 170). She pushed the victim off of her, started the Grand Prix, and sped out of the parking lot. (R. p. 170). Nyia also confirmed that Kayla pushed the victim out of the car and took off. (R. pp. 230-31). Eventually, Appellant and Nyia were able to catch up with Kayla in Kayla's Mustang. (R. pp. 170-71, 231). Kayla and Appellant switched cars, and they drove back to Appellant and Nyia's mother's house. (R. pp. 171, 231-32). Kayla testified that Appellant was bragging about shooting the victim at his mother's house. (R. p. 171). She also noted Appellant said that he got his mother's car back. (R. p. 171).

That night, Kayla and Nyia went back to their hotel. (R. p. 234). The next day, September 18, they received a call from Appellant. (R. pp. 173, 235). They

later picked up Appellant, and over the course of several days, travelled from Greenville area to Gatlinburg, TN, back towards Spartanburg, SC, Traveler's Rest, SC, and eventually to Asheville, NC. (R. pp. 175-81, 237-40). The three were apprehended at a Sleep Inn in Asheville. (R. pp. 79-80, 130-34, 181, 241).

Law Enforcement Investigation

The victim was still breathing shallowly, but was otherwise unresponsive when the first officer arrived to the scene. (R. pp. 41, 43). The first deputy to arrive noted that the victim was face down, and there was blood on the ground when he arrived. (R. p. 43). The victim was lifeless by the time EMS arrived. (R. pp. 45, 46, 49).

At the scene, a broken liquor bottle and a tennis shoe were located several feet away from the victim's body. (R. pp. 52-53, 55, 110-11). Law enforcement was able to identify the victim via his driver's license. (R. p. 55).

Law enforcement obtained a lead when a detective spoke with Ms. Hinson about the call she received. (R. pp. 61-62). Hinson provided a detective with the phone number from which she had received a call about seeing the cars. (R. pp. 61-62, 100). Law enforcement traced the number to Harold Sloan. (R. p. 21). Sloan testified that the number was for a cell phone that he provided to Taznick Utsey, one of Appellant's sisters.⁸ (See R. pp. 21-22, 62). Law enforcement later made contact with Taznick, and they were able to establish Appellant, Kayla, and Nyia as possible suspects. (R. pp. 66-67).

⁸ Josqueze Thomas, one of Taznick's ex-boyfriends, testified that he recalled seeing Appellant use the phone on September 17, 2011. (R. pp. 24-5, 26).

The Grand Prix was found in Greenville on Monday, September 19, by the US Marshal Service. (R. pp. 68-69). Near the car was a rolled up license plate. (R. p. 72). A receipt from a Family Dollar dated September 18, 2011 was found in the car. (R. pp. 74-75). Video from the Family Dollar on the date and time of the timestamp on the receipt reflected that an individual with a similar appearance to Appellant came to the store in the Grand Prix and made a purchase inside the store. (R. pp. 77-78).

After Appellant and his co-defendants were arrested, Kayla's Mustang was searched. (R. pp. 79-83). A BB gun was found underneath the passenger seat.⁹ (R. p. 83).

The victim's blue Lancer was processed for fingerprints. (R. pp. 101, 113-14). Three prints from the Lancer were matched to Nyia. (R. pp. 280-81, 290). The Grand Prix and the license plate found behind the Grand Prix were also processed for fingerprints. (R. pp. 118-21, 125). Prints from the rolled up license plate were matched to Appellant. (R. pp. 282-83, 292). Prints from the Grand Prix were matched to Appellant and to Kayla. (R. pp. 284, 287-88, 289).

⁹ Kayla had testified that Appellant gave her a BB gun on the night of the shooting, and he told her to use it on the lady (Ms. Hinson) with the victim when they were initially looking at the cars. (R. p. 156). Nyia confirmed Appellant gave Kayla the gun, and further confirmed that Appellant told Kayla to use it to keep the lady with the victim from going anywhere to call the police. (R. p. 217). Nyia also testified that Charles threatened to punch Kayla if she hit the lady with the gun. (R. p. 221).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING THE DEFENSE OF OTHERS; THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL TO SUPPORT THE CHARGE.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request for a defense of others charge. First, there was no evidence to support a finding that Kayla Williams, the individual Appellant asserted he was defending, would have had the right to kill the victim in self-defense. Second, there was also no evidence that Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty that led to the shooting.

Argument at trial

At trial, Appellant requested a jury instruction for defense of others.

I would also move for a charge on defense of others. In this case, again, albeit through cross-examination, certainly one of the Co-Defendant's testified that her perception was, not her words mine, characterized the struggle between Williams and Dinneon. She characterized It looks like he was trying to rape her something. I would contend, Your Honor, as a result of that, certainly the Williams would have had the right to defend herself from that. Mr. Yeargin would have had a right, under what I read on defense of others, had a right to come to her defense and defending her on that, Your Honor.

(R. p. 315, ll 14-24).

In response, the State argued there was no evidence supporting such a charge.

Your Honor, yes, we would ask that you not charge that. I believe the testimony was laid out in my asking the question whether there was a weapon involved. And also in regards to her talking about a rape, I didn't see any type of testimony that came out that said that she was in any position of harm or rape or

anything of that nature. I don't think the evidence is there to support such a charge.

(R. p. 316, ll 2-9).

The trial court denied the request for a defense of others jury instruction.

And I'll tell you -- put on the record why. I heard that line of testimony as well. And I know that you elicited answers to questions that were posed in cross-examination. But I thought that each witness who testified with respect to self-defense or facts and circumstances which would purport to self-defense and defense of others, in court they actually denied that they thought that they were in any harm or jeopardy. And also I would, and I don't -- I think it was a very wise decision in your regard not to enter any evidence into the record, particularly in the form of the Defendant's testimony. However, without that and standing alone on the evidence that has been presented, it just doesn't rise to the level of a self-defense charge.

(R. p. 316, l 14 – 317, l 2).

Appellant did renew the request after the conclusion of jury instructions.

(R. p. 330). The request was again denied. (R. p. 330).

Standard of Review

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct.App.2005) (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). Furthermore, “[t]o warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 232, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). “The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” Id. If there is any evidence to support the requested charge, the trial court should grant the request. Williams, at 195, 624 S.E.2d at

445. The evidence must be reviewed in the light most favorable to appellant. State v. Cottrell, 376 S.C. 260, 262, 657 S.E.2d 451, 452 (2008).

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