5

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Pickens County  
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge  
Appeal Case No. 2013-002508

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAVISH DOMINIQUE YEARGIN,

APPELLANT

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6307

W. WALTER WILKINS  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

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

**Appellant was not entitled to a defense of others jury instruction because Kayla, the person who Appellant claims he was defending, did not have the right to kill the victim in self-defense.**

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, Appellant could not kill the victim under a theory of defense of others (specifically Kayla) because Kayla was not entitled to act in self-defense against the victim. First, Kayla was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. At the time of the shooting, Kayla was actively engaged in a plan to steal the victim's car. In fact, the "struggle" between Kayla and the victim occurred when Kayla ran and jumped into the driver's seat of the victim's Grand Prix in an effort to thwart the victim's attempt at avoiding having his car stolen. (Tr. 339, 378, 418, 454).

"[O]ne who provokes or initiates an assault cannot escape criminal liability by invoking self defense ...." Ferdinand S. Tinio, Comment Note: Withdrawal, After Provocation of Conflict, As Reviving Right Of Self-Defense, 55 A.L.R.3d 1000, 1003 (1974). Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide. 40 Am.Jur.2d Homicide § 149 (1999). "[A] robber, who is met with such violent resistance by his victim that he has no opportunity to convince [the] victim that he has abandoned his criminal intentions and only wants to withdraw, may not claim self defense if he injures or kills his victim." 55 A.L.R.3d at 1003-04; see also United States v. Thomas, 34 F.3d 44 (2d Cir.1994) (one who commits or attempts a robbery armed with deadly force and kills the intended victim when victim responds with force may not avail himself of the defense of self-defense); People v. Couch, 436 Mich. 414, 461 N.W.2d 683 (1990) (a robber or other wrongdoer engaged in felonious conduct has no privilege of self-defense); Stiles v. State, 829 P.2d 984 (Okla.Crim.App.1992) (one who kills while committing armed robbery is an aggressor and an aggressor is not entitled to a claim of self-defense).

Bryant, 336 S.C. at 345, 520 S.E.2d at 322.

Second, Kayla's testimony reflected that she was not in actual danger of losing her life or suffering great bodily injury, and she did not actually believe she was in imminent danger. Kayla never indicated in her testimony at trial that she was in fear for her life from the victim. She noted that the victim never threatened her with a weapon. (Tr. 354). Dinneen never beat her in any way. (Tr. 354). Kayla was not harmed in the entire incident, except for some possible bruising. (Tr. 355, 379). Furthermore, there was no testimony that supported a finding that Appellant thought Kayla was in actual danger of losing her life or suffering great bodily injury. Appellant did not testify, and none of the witnesses testified that Appellant made any statements reflecting such a belief. To the contrary, Kayla testified Appellant bragged about shooting the victim to his mother. (Tr. 343).

Third, there was no evidence to support a finding that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that Kayla was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life. Both Kayla's and Nyia's testimony confirm this. While both confirmed that the victim did have his beer bottle in his hand when he initially moved towards the driver's seat, Nyia testified that the victim threw the bottle away as he attempted to turn the car off. (Tr. 419). Nyia also noted that the victim was not hitting Kayla, and at most, he may have pushed Kayla a little bit.

(Tr. 420). She also noted that she did not see the victim using any weapons or threatening Kayla in any way. (Tr. 422).

Finally, Kayla clearly had other means by which to avoid the danger. Both Nyia and Kayla indicated that the victim was clearly attempting to avoid having his car taken from him. Kayla could have simply disengaged from the struggle and allowed the victim to take his car.

Appellant relies upon Nyia's statement that it appeared that the victim was attempting to rape Kayla when he was trying to wrestle control of the car away from her as support for his argument that Appellant reasonably believed Kayla was in danger of imminent harm. (Tr. 454-55). Respondent submits this statement was not enough to warrant a defense of others charge. First, there was no testimony or evidence that Nyia's initial impression of the victim's actions was what Appellant viewed. Nyia also testified that Appellant was in the Mustang behind the Grand Prix, whereas Nyia was viewing the interaction between Kayla and the victim from the front seat of the Grand Prix. Furthermore, the impression by Nyia does nothing to negate the lack of evidence to support a finding that Kayla was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, or that Kayla had other means to avoid the danger that did not require she kill the victim. Respondent would note that even under Appellant's version of events, he could not have acted in the defense of Kayla because Kayla was actively engaging in an attempted theft of the victim's car when the confrontation occurred.

Altogether, since Kayla did not have the right to kill the victim in self-defense, Appellant was not entitled to do so. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying his request for a defense of others jury instruction.

**Appellant was also not entitled to a defense of others instruction because he was also not without fault in bringing on the difficulty.**

The trial court was correct in not granting Appellant's request for a defense of others jury instruction because Appellant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty in this case. Appellant developed the plan for stealing the victim's Grand Prix. Also, Appellant was the one who instigated Kayla's attempt at preventing the victim from driving away in his own car. Kayla testified that Appellant told her "to run, go get in the car before he [the victim] gets in it." (Tr. 339, ll 16-7).

"The doctrine of freedom from fault in bringing on a difficulty as a condition precedent to a plea of self-defense applies with equal force to a case in which one person interferes in a difficulty between two others in behalf of, or to protect one of them; and generally speaking a person who does this will not be allowed the benefit of the plea of self-defense, unless such plea would have been available to the person whose part he took in case he himself had done the killing, since the person interfering is affected by the principle that the party bringing on the difficulty cannot take advantage of his own wrong."

State v. Cook, 78 S.C. 253, 257, 59 S.E. 862, 863 (1907) (quoting Wharton on Homicide § 332 (3d Ed. 1907)).

In such case the right to take the life of such assailant upon such unprovoked assault extends to any relative, friend, or bystander who would likewise have the right to take the life of such assailant if such act was necessary to save the person so wrongfully assailed from imminent danger of being murdered by such assailant. In other words, if the assailant makes a malicious and unprovoked assault with a deadly weapon upon one person with the apparent malicious intention to take the life of the person assailed and thereby commit murder, then, where the danger of the commission of such murder is imminent, any relative, friend, or bystander would have the right to take the life of such assailant if necessary in order to prevent the commission of such murder, provided there was no other reasonable means of escape for the person so assailed, and **provided both the person assailed and the person coming to**

**his defense were without legal fault in bringing on the difficulty.**

State v. Hays, 121 S.C. 163, 168, 113 S.E. 362, 363 (1922) (emphasis added).

Since Appellant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty in this case, his request for a defense of others instruction was properly denied. His convictions should therefore be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR AN INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER JURY INSTRUCTION.

The trial court correctly denied Appellant's request for an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction. First, Appellant's argument on appeal is not preserved for appellate review as it was not presented to the trial court. Second, there is no evidence in the record to support a finding that Appellant was acting lawfully in defense of Kayla Williams. Nor was there evidence that Appellant acted in reckless disregard for the safety of others. To the contrary, the evidence relating to the shooting reflected Appellant's actions were unlawful and intentional. Thus, he was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge.

What occurred at trial

After the request for a defense of others jury instruction was denied, Appellant requested an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction.

I would move the Court for the charge on involuntary manslaughter. Certainly do not need to educate Your Honor on involuntary manslaughter, but simply bring to the Court's attention, the intentional killing of another without malice while engaged in a unlawful activity, not naturally intending to cause death or great bodily injury, to engaged in a unlawful activity, I don't know that that would particularly apply in this particular case. I would take the position that the grand larceny auto, and I'm certainly aware of what the State is asking you to charge. . . .

But on grand larceny or theft of the vehicle, Your Honor, I would submit that that is not a crime that will tend to cause death or great bodily injury. Depending on what website you want to take into consideration, over a million cars are stolen in the United States a year. One website said that's a car every 24 seconds. Another said every 28 seconds. Either one, that' a lot of cars. I would simply submit that that is not a crime that would tend to cause death or great bodily injury. And respectfully move the Court for a charge on involuntary manslaughter.

(Tr. 565, ll 4-14, 16- 566, l 1).

The State contended that there was no evidence presented to support a charge of involuntary manslaughter. (Tr. 566). The trial court denied the request. (Tr. 566, ll 14-7). Appellant renewed the request after the jury was charged. (Tr. 607). The request was again denied. (Tr. 607).

#### Standard of Review

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct.App.2005) (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). Furthermore, “[t]o warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 232, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). “The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” Id. If there is any evidence to support the requested charge, the trial court should grant the request. Williams, at 195, 624 S.E.2d at 445. The evidence must be reviewed in the light most favorable to appellant. State v. Cottrell, 376 S.C. 260, 262, 657 S.E.2d 451, 452 (2008).

The presence of evidence to sustain a conviction for the crime of a lesser degree determines whether it should be submitted to the jury. State v. Rucker, 319 S.C. 95, 98, 459 S.E.2d 858, 860 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976)); State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 278 S.E.2d 335 (1981). Due process requires that a lesser included offense be charged when the evidence warrants it but only if the evidence would permit a jury rationally to find the defendant guilty of the lesser offense. State v. Patterson,

337 S.C. 215, 233, 522 S.E.2d 845, 854 (Ct. App. 1999). It is not error to refuse to charge the lesser included offense unless there is evidence tending to show that the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing State v. Tyndall, 336 S.C. 8, 518 S.E.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 292 S.E.2d 581 (1982); State v. Mickle, 273 S.C. 71, 254 S.E.2d 295 (1979)).

Involuntary manslaughter is the killing of another without malice and unintentionally while engaged in either: (1) an unlawful act not amounting to a felony and not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) a lawful act with reckless disregard for the safety of others. State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 36, 633 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2006). To constitute involuntary manslaughter, there must be a finding of criminal negligence. State v. Wigginton, 375 S.C. 25, 35, 649 S.E.2d 185, 190 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51-2, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003)). Criminal negligence for involuntary manslaughter is statutorily defined as “the reckless disregard of the safety of others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-60 (2007). “Recklessness is a state of mind in which the actor is aware of his or her conduct, yet consciously disregards a risk which his or her conduct is creating.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 571, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007).

“A trial court should refuse to charge a lesser-included offense only where there is no evidence the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense.” Crosby, 355 S.C. at 51, 584 S.E.2d at 112. Evidence of a struggle between the defendant and the victim over a weapon supports submission of an

involuntary manslaughter charge. Tisdale v. State, 378 S.C. 122, 125, 662 S.E.2d 410, 412 (2008); Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991).

**Appellant's argument on appeal is not preserved for appellate review.**

At trial, Appellant contended that he was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge based upon the first category upon which one can be found guilty of involuntary manslaughter. He specifically argued that Appellant was engaged in an unlawful act amounting to a felony (grand larceny), and not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm. (Tr. 565-66). At no point did Appellant argue that he was engaged in a lawful act, or that he acted with reckless disregard to the safety of others. On appeal, Appellant argues that the second category of involuntary manslaughter applies. He contends that Appellant was acting lawfully in the defense of Kayla Williams, and that he acted in reckless disregard in shooting the victim. This argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not presented to the trial court, and was not subject to the trial court's ruling denying the request for the charge. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Perez, 334 S.C. 563, 565-66, 514 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1999) (issue not raised and ruled upon by trial court is procedurally barred and not preserved for appeal); see also State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995) (party cannot argue one ground below and then another on appeal).

**Appellant was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge. There is no evidence in the record to support a finding that Appellant was acting lawfully, and there is no evidence to support a finding that he acted in reckless disregard for the safety of others.**

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, there was no evidence to support his request for an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction. First, there was no evidence to support a finding that Appellant was acting lawfully because, as discussed in Argument I, there was not sufficient evidence at trial to support a finding that Appellant was lawfully acting in defense of Kayla Williams. As noted above, Kayla was not entitled to act in self-defense because she was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. There was no evidence that she was actually in fear of losing or life or suffering great bodily injury, nor was there evidence that she feared she was in imminent danger of losing her life or suffering great bodily injury. Also, there was a lack of evidence to show that a reasonable prudent person would have believed Kayla was imminent danger of losing her life or suffering great bodily injury. Finally, Kayla had other means by which to avoid the danger.

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